IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

:

HAROLD GENE LUCAS, Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 70,653

By.

sid J. White

MAR 27 1989

CLERK, SURBEME COURT

Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FLORIDA BAR NO. **0143265**

ROBERT F. MOELLER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 30, 1976 a Lee County grand jury returned a three-count indictment against Appellant, Harold Gene Lucas. (R813) Count one charged the premeditated murder of Anthia Jill Piper by shooting her with a firearm. (R813) Count two charged the attempted premeditated murder of Terri L. Rice by shooting her with a firearm. (R813) And count three charged the attempted premeditated murder of Richard Byrd, Jr. by shooting him with a firearm. (R813) These offenses allegedly occurred on August 14, 1976. (R813)

Appellant was originally convicted on all three counts and sentenced to death for the first degree murder in 1977. In Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979) this Court affirmed Appellant's conviction, but remanded for resentencing without benefit of a new sentence recommendation by a jury, because the trial judge, the Honorable Thomas W. Shands, had improperly found in aggravation that the attempted murders of Terri Rice and Richard Byrd were heinous and atrocious.¹

The resentencing resulted in Judge Shands again sentencing Appellant to death. In <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 250 (Fla.

¹ Judge Shands also found in aggravation that Appellant was previously convicted of another felony involving the use of violence to the person (the two contemporaneous attempted murders), that the crimes created great possible injury to others, and that the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. 376 So.2d at 1152. In mitigation Judge Shands found that there was "no showing of any substantial past criminal record." 376 So.2d at 1152.



1982) this Court again vacated the death penalty imposed upon Appellant, because Judge Shands failed to use reasoned judgment in reweighing the aggravating and mitigating factors.

Upon resentencing, Appellant was sentenced to death once again, this time by the Honorable Thomas S. Reese, as Judge Shands died prior to the resentencing. In Lucas v. State, 490 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1986) this Court vacated Appellant's death sentence for the third time. The Court held that both the State and the defense should have been allowed to present testimony and argument at the resentencing hearing. The Court also invalidated Judge Reese's finding that Appellant's actions created a great risk of death to many **persons**.² Finally, because the original trial judge and Appellant's defense counsel may have erroneously believed that mitigating circumstances were restricted to those enumerated in Florida's capital sentencing statute, this Court remanded for a complete new sentencing proceeding before a newly empaneled jury.

Prior to **his** new sentencing trial, Appellant, through counsel, filed several motions, including, among others, a motion for statement of aggravating circumstances (R833-835) a motion to preclude re-imposition of the death penalty (R841-845), and a motion to strike or amend the standard jury instructions to reflect that one who is sentenced to life imprisonment for first degree murder has no possibility of parole or release. (R846) These

² The other aggravators found by Judge Reese were previous conviction of violent felony and heinous, atrocious, or cruel. 490 So,2d at 944. He found lack of significant history of prior criminal activity in mitigation. 490 So,2d at 944-945.

motions were considered by Judge Reese on March 30, 1987 prior to commencement of jury selection, and denied. (R10-13, 19-32)

On March 25, 1987 the State filed a motion asking the court to take judicial notice of the fact that Appellant was found quilty on January 14, 1977 of the first degree premeditated murder of Anthia Jill Piper, the attempted first degree murder of Terri L. Rice, and the attempted first degree murder of Richard Byrd, Jr. (R847) The defense filed a motion to strike the State's request on March 26, 1987. (R848) The motion stated that Appellant did not object to the court taking judicial notice that Appellant was convicted of first degree murder of Piper, but did not believe it was proper for the court to take judicial notice of the convictions for attempted first degree murder. (R848) The defense further expressed its objections to Judge Reese at the hearing of March 30, 1987, but the court granted the State's request to take judicial notice. (R13-19)

Another document the State filed prior to Appellant's penalty trial was entitled "Statement of Other Offenses." (R846) Filed on March 18, 1987, this document announced that the State intended to offer at trial evidence that Appellant was arrested on August 10, 1976 for "Treaspass [sic] After Warning" at the Piper residence in Bonita Springs. (R846)

Appellant's new penalty trial took place in Fort Myers from March 30, 1987 through April 3, 1987, with Judge Reese presiding. (R1-811)

Over defense objections, the court allowed the jurors to

take notes. (R230, 724)

Appellant proposed a number of jury instructions to be read to the jury, the majority of which the court denied. (R702-719, 850-876)

Judge Reese instructed the jury on the following aggravating circumstances, over defense objections (R690-698, 794-796): previous conviction of a felony involving violence, especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel, and cold, calculated and premeditated. He instructed on the following mitigating circumstances (R796-797): no significant history of prior criminal activity, extreme mental or emotional disturbance, extreme duress or substantial domination of another person, substantial impairment of capacity to appreciate criminality of conduct or to conform conduct to requirements of law, age of **Appellant**,³ and any other aspect of Appellant's character or record, or any other circumstance of the offense.

The jury recommended by a vote of eleven to one that the trial court impose a sentence of death upon Appellant. (R807, 888)

A sentencing hearing was held before Judge Reese on May 7,1987. (R893-915) After arguments of counsel and a brief statement by Appellant, the court again sentenced Appellant to death, reading his already-prepared sentencing order into the record. (R889-892, 909-913)

³ Appellant was 24 at the time of the offense. (R600-601)

Appellant filed his notice of appeal on June 2, 1987. (R921)

Appellant appeals to this Honorable Court pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1) of the Constitution of the State of Florida and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant, Harold Gene Lucas, was originally from Arkansas. (R525) As a child he was a happy-go-lucky boy who liked to fish and play. (R525) He regularly went to the Pentecostal Church on Sunday. (R525-526) He did not use drugs or alcohol. (R526)

After moving to Florida with his family, Appellant did not go to church very often. (R532)

Appellant dropped out of school after seventh grade and began working to help support his mother, father, brothers and sister. (R598) He worked mainly in construction, but also worked for his brother-in-law in the produce business, driving trucks of tomatoes and handling money. (R500-501, 537, 593) For two or three months prior to the instant homicide, Appellant worked for the Piper family at Everglades Wonder Gardens. (R481, 506, 522, 526, 592-593, 608)

Appellant began smoking marijuana when he was 17. (R601) In 1976 he was using all kinds of drugs, "[m]ost anything that was around." (R601) On a few occasions he used heroin. (R601) On a few occasions he used cocaine. (R601) He had also used LSD and smoked hashish, and was into THC and animal tranquilizers. (R526, 601) For about two years prior to the homicide Appellant had been mixing alcohol and drugs fairly regularly, on a daily basis. (R593, 602) He was "heavy in the drugs and alcohol" at the time the homicide occurred. (R593. See also R515, 526, 542, 617) He

also dealt in drugs, at times making a living from this activity. (R610, 619)

Like Appellant, Jill Piper had dropped out of school. (R280) Appellant and Piper had dated off and on for about two or three years. (R261-262, 480, 522, 592) Appellant had stayed overnight at the Piper house many times. (R599) He loved Jill very much. (R598, 619) At one time they had discussed getting married. (R508, 598)

In August of **1976** the relationship between Appellant and Jill Piper deteriorated. Appellant was a little bit upset that Piper had called the police on several occasions and had Appellant's car pulled over and searched for drugs. **(R607)** Appellant was very upset that Piper was seeing someone else during the week preceding the homicide. **(R611)**

According to State witness Franklin "Flip" Dorthy, Jill Piper had related to him two incidents involving Appellant that occurred in the days prior to the homicide.⁴ The first occurred at the Post Time Tavern on the Sunday night before Piper was killed. (R389) Appellant allegedly put a knife to Piper's side and threatened to "cut her... guts out.'' (R389) The second occurred after Appellant had broken into the Piper's residence on the Wednesday preceding the homicide and been arrested. (R390)⁵

⁴ Dorthy's testimony regarding these incidents was admitted over defense hearsay objections. (R389)

⁵ Former Lee County Deputy Sheriff Craig Humble testified that he arrested Appellant at the Piper residence on August 10, 1976 for trespass after warning. (R302, 305, 310)

When Appellant got out of jail he called the Pipers' house and, according to Dorthy, told them their daughter was not going to see her next birthday. (R390)

Eleanor Piper, Jill's mother, testified to a different version of the telephone call. Eleanor Piper received the call the day after Appellant was arrested, some time after 4:00 a.m., but before 6:00, while she was still in bed. (R490-491) After Piper said, "Hello," several times and asked who was calling, a voice responded, "Gene." (R491) Piper recognized the voice as that of Appellant. (R492)

After these incidents, Jill Piper told Flip Dorthy that if Appellant came "around her house messing with her," she was "going to blow his shit away." (R387-388)

On August 13, 1976 Dan Brian Dowdal and several others went to Appellant's house to "party," that is, to drink and play cards. (R564-565, 593) They also smoked marijuana and "hash." (R565, 593)

That afternoon Georgina Martin, who lived next door to Appellant, introduced Appellant and Dean Broughton to a girlfriend of Martin who had come from Miami with some drugs to sell. (R507, 513-514) Appellant and Broughton bought some PCP, angel dust, THC or horse tranquilizer from the girl. (R507) Martin was not certain what drug her girlfriend sold to Appellant, but she thought it was PCP. (R518) Martin had heard her girlfriend say the name of the drug at the time she sold it, but Martin was not permitted to testify at Appellant's penalty trial as to what she heard.

(R518-520)

Dan Brian Dowdal referred to the drug at Appellant's penalty trial as "PCP." (R565) On cross-examination the prosecutor elicited the fact that Dowdal had referred to the drug as "THC" at Appellant's first trial in 1977. (R572) However, Dowdal had since been through the Avon Park drug treatment program, and knew that the drug was PCP or animal tranquilizer. (R588-589)

Appellant had likewise referred to the drug in question as "THC" or animal tranquilizer at his **1977** trial. **(R602)**

The first time Appellant snorted the PCP (if that is what it was) that day was around 6:00 or 6:30 p.m. (R594)

That evening the partyers went out to buy more beer. (R565, 574) By that time they were all "feeling good" and were "high." (R570, 587)

On the way to buy beer, the group encountered Jill Piper at a park. (R565) According to State witnesses "Flip" Dorthy and Richard Byrd, Jr., Appellant remarked that he was "going to put [Piper] in a hole." (R380-381, 412) Piper was about 40 feet away when the comment was made. (R379-380)

When Byrd saw Appellant at the park, Appellant seemed to be high. (R446) He might have been smoking "pot" or doing other drugs. (R445) His speech was possibly slurred. (R446)

Defense witness Dan Brian Dowdal did not hear Appellant threaten Piper at the park, but he did notice the two engaged in a heated discussion. (R569) He did not remember who started the argument or what was said, but he did remember Jill Piper saying

that she had something in her purse, and that if Appellant messed with her she would blow his head off. (R569, 575-576)

Georgina Martin saw Appellant at the park that night; he wished her "Happy New Year's." (R507-508)

When Jill Piper and Terri Rice left the park, they went to a neighborhood store, where they saw Appellant. (R264) He was with his sister-in-law. (R264) Appellant got out of his car and started to walk into the store. (R264) He turned and looked in the direction of Piper and Rice and said he was "going to have fun tonight." (R264-265) Rice took this as threatening. (R265)

On the way back to Appellant's residence after the beer purchase, the car in which Appellant was a passenger was stopped by Lee County Deputy Sheriff Glen Boyette for a traffic violation at approximately 8:30 p.m. (R365, 367, 369, 577) There were five other people in the car with Appellant. (R367-368) Boyette observed one of them, Dan Brian Dowdal, in possession of quaaludes and arrested him. (R368, 569-570)

At Appellant's penalty trial Boyette could not positively identify Appellant, although he did see a man in the courtroom who resembled the man he knew as "Eugene Lucas." (R366) At the time of the traffic stop, Boyette asked the person whom he believed to be Harold Gene Lucas for identification, and was shown a photo i.d. of a Harold Eugene Lucas. (R369) Boyette said that at the time of the traffic stop Appellant's hair was dark and short and somewhat wavy or curly, but other witnesses testified that this description was not an accurate description of the way Appellant's

hair looked during that time period. (R506, 542, 588, 596)⁶

There were two six-packs of beer in the car, which Appellant said were his. **(R372)** Two beers were missing from the six-pack holders. **(R373)**

Appellant appeared to Boyette to be coherent. (R370) He had no trouble walking, standing or talking. (R370) His speech was not slurred. (R370) However, Boyette did not perform any field tests on Appellant to see if he was drunk or had been drinking. (R373)

Some time after the traffic stop, Appellant took a second dose of PCP. (R596-597)

Jill Piper and Terri Rice encountered Appellant again that night, at a Hess station at approximately 10:30. (R266, 397-398, 403) Appellant arrived with his sister-in-law while Piper and Rice were talking with Eddie Kent. (R266, 398) According to Terri Rice's testimony at Appellant's penalty trial, Eddie Kent said to Appellant, "Hello, Turkey," and this remark precipitated a fight between Kent and Appellant. (R266) However, Kent did not remember saying this to Appellant. (R402) Kent's version was that the fight began after Appellant told him to stay away from Jill. (R398)

Kent detected alcohol on Appellant's breath. (R401) When Kent gave a deposition, he indicated that Appellant appeared

Boyette's inability positively to identify Appellant formed the basis for a defense objection to his testifying at Appellant's penalty trial. (R366-367)

to be intoxicated or under the influence of drugs at the Hess station. (R401)

Terri Rice testified that after the fight stopped, Appellant came to the car where Jill Piper was sitting and said, "You're a dead bitch." (R267)

Eddie Kent followed Appellant to his car and swung at him with a whisky bottle. (R284, 400) The bottle shattered on the door post, with part of it striking Appellant. (R400)

Kent testified that as Appellant was leaving, he said he was going to kill Jill Piper. (R399-400)

Appellant went to Georgina Martin's house between 11:10 and 11:15 that night. (R508) Blood was running down his head. (R508) He was "totally out of it." (R508) His eyes were wide open "like when you look at a little kid that's real scared." (R508) Martin asked Appellant what had happened. (R508) He responded that Eddie Kent had shot him, and flipped up his hair to show Martin where the blood was coming from. (R508)

Martin did not hear Appellant make any threats to Jill Piper at any time. (R508)

Appellant's brother, Thomas Lucas, saw him around 10:30 or 11:00 that night. (R526-527) Appellant went to Thomas' house and said he had been shot. (R527) Appellant had blood on the side of his ear. (R527) Thomas looked at it and told Appellant he had not been shot, but was "just skinned a little bit." (R527) Appellant was "carrying on," acting strange and a little bit crazy. (R527) Appellant seemed as though he was "in his own world," and

Thomas considered him to be "high," (R527-528)

Thomas did not hear Appellant make any threats against Jill Piper. (R528)

Appellant's sister-in-law, Carol Lucas, saw him at about 11:00 or 11:30 on August 13. (R542) Appellant said he had been shot, and lifted up his shoulder-length hair, showing a cut on **his** ear. (R542) Appellant seemed to be very "high." (R542) His eyes were glassy and he was staggering a little bit. (R542) He did not look the way he normally looked, and was not acting the way he normally acted. (R542) He looked like a different person. (R542-543)

Appellant did not mention Jill Piper to his sister-inlaw. (R543) She newer heard him threaten Piper at any time. (R543)

After the incident at the Hess station, Jill Piper appeared to Terri Rice to be scared. (R268) Piper asked Rice to stay the night with her, and Rice agreed. (R268)

Richard Byrd, Jr. encountered Piper and Rice at the park after the incident. (R268, 413) The girls told Byrd what had happened and said they were very frightened, and asked Byrd to stay with them, which he agreed to do. (R269, 414)

The three people eventually went to the Piper residence. (R269, 414) They parked their car across the street so that if Appellant came by, he would not think they were home. (R270, 414-415)

Rice and Piper were very scared, and "kept insinuating

to [Byrd] that they were frightened for their lives.'' (R415) But Byrd did not believe there was really any danger; he thought "that this was just some scared girls." (R416)

At Appellant's penalty trial, Terri Rice and Richard Byrd, Jr. gave differing versions of what transpired at the Piper residence on August 13-14, 1976.

TERRI RICE VERSION

Jill Piper obtained a shotgun and a .38 revolver from under the bed in her parents' bedroom. (R270-271)

At Rice's suggestion it was decided to park the car in the driveway **so** that if Appellant came, they could leave. (R271) The three of them went across the street, with Piper carrying the shotgun, and Byrd carrying the .38, and the two girls drove the car into the driveway. (R271-272, 285)

After the girls got out of the car and were walking toward the front of the house, Rice saw Appellant beside the house. (R272) He aimed a rifle and fired at Piper, who went down on her knees. (R272-273)

Rice ran inside the front door of the house and told Byrd Piper had been shot. (R273) Then Rice went into the bedroom and called the sheriff's department. (R273)

Rice did not recall hearing any other shots or any yelling or screaming. (R274)

Byrd joined Rice in the bedroom. (R274)

Appellant came through the bedroom door. (R275) He raised a shotgun and shot Byrd. (R275)

Rice went into the bathroom. (R275) She was terrified. (R275)

Rice tried to hold the bathroom door shut against Appellant, but he pushed his way in. (R275) Appellant looked strange and his eyes were glassy. (R286-287) Rice tried to hold herself against Appellant and talk to him. (R275-276) She told him she had called the sheriff's department and they were on the way. (R276) She told him to leave and not shoot anyone else. (R276) Appellant said, "Okay, I'll go, let me go." (R276) He walked out the bathroom door, turned, and aimed the shotgun at Rice. (R276) She slammed the door as he was firing and was hit in the left side. (R276)

Rice called the telephone operator, who informed her that the sheriff's department was there. (R277)

Personnel from the sheriff's department lifted Rice through the bathroom window, and she was taken to the hospital. (R278)

RICHARD BYRD, JR. VERSION⁷

Jill Piper and Terri Rice went to a gun **room** in the den of the Piper residence and returned with a .38 pistol and a double barreled shotgun. (R415)

Piper decided to bring the car back from across the street because she was not going to be afraid in her own house.

During Byrd's testimony, Appellant objected to any further testimony regarding the attempted murders as constituting non-statutory aggravation. (R426-428)

(R417) The three people walked to the car, with Piper carrying the shotgun and Byrd carrying the pistol. (R417) Piper and Rice drove the car back to the house. (R417)

Byrd entered the house. (R418) He heard the car pull up and Piper and Rice talking. (R418) A second or two later he heard three quick shots. (R418) They sounded like firecrackers, and Byrd thought it was a joke. (R418-419)

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