HAROLD G. LUCAS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No.	70,653
(III)	
SID J. WHITE	
AUG 14 1989	

CLERK, SUAJAME COURT

By_____ APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARLES CORCES, JR. Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #: 015674 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

/sas

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

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE JURY'S SENTENCING RECOMMENDATION HEREIN WAS TAINTED BY THE PROSECUTOR'S IMPROPER VOIR DIRE AND CLOSING ARGUMENT, WHICH MISLED THE JURY IN ITS CONSIDERATION OF MITIGATING EVIDENCE.

Under one issue appellant raises three alleged acts of judicial error, one that allegedly occurred during voir dire of the jury and two that allegedly occurred during closing argument. This Court has held that where two or more alleged errors are grouped in one assignment, if any one of such alleged errors fails, the entire assignment fails. Cobb v. State, 126 So. 281 (Fla. 1930), Williams v. State, 50 So. 749, 58 Fla. 138 (Fla. 1909), Smithie v. State, 101 So. 276, 88 Fla. 70 (Fla. 1924). Manifestly, where errors are grouped under one assignment or issue an appellant is relying on the cumulative effect of the errors. Consequently if one or more of the alleged errors fail, either because the appellant is incorrect with respect to the position he takes or because it was not preserved for appellate purposes, then the issue looses its cumulative effect. Once it looses its cumulative effect the remaining errors must be considered harmless.

We shall now demonstrate why no error was committed with respect to any of the statements made by the assistant state attorney.

> Voir dire questions concerning accountability of intoxicated person.

> > - 4 -

Appellant argues that it was improper for the court to allow the prosecutor to ask the prospective jurors questions as to whether they believed someone who was intoxicated from alcohol or on drugs should be held accountable for what he did. (R-119-121). He argues that at the penalty phase of the trial accountability is not the issue, that the only issue is whether the defendant should be sentenced to life or death for the crime which the jury has already held him accountable.

We do not concede that accountability is not an issue at the penalty phase of a capital proceeding. The question to be determined is the extent of accountability, that is, the extent to which the convicted defendant should be punished for his crime. A convicted defendant who does not "pay his debt to society" cannot be deemed to have been held accountable. If the amount owed is his life, then anything less fails to hold him accountable. When a prosecutor is conducting a voir dire he is entitled to know the jurors' thoughts on accountability. Those thoughts give him insight **as** to whether to exercise his peremptory challenges with respect to any juror.

When appellant's counsel objected to the prosecutor's voir dire questions, the assistant state attorney clearly argued that he was not telling the jury what the law was with respect to mitigating factors, or setting out a standard for the jury, he was merely trying to determine the jurors' thoughts on intoxication, drugs and accountability. (R-120).

- 5 -

Nor was the jury misled into believing that appellant's alcohol and drug use could not be considered in mitigation. Appellant's counsel argued extensively to the jury that appellant's judgment was curtailed through his alcohol and drug use. (R-788-792). The standard of review with respect to voir dire is one of abuse of discretion. Zamora v. State, 361 So.2d (Fla. 3 DCA 1978). 776 Even where a prosecutor gives an erroneous explanation to the jury with respect to some aspect of their functions it does not constitute reversible error where the court correctly instructs the jury. Magill v. State, 386 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 1980).

That in closing argument the prosecutor improperly urged the jury to reject as a mitigating circumstance the no significant criminal history factor because of the contemporaneous convictions.

Appellant concedes that at the time the comment was made it was proper to consider contemporaneous convictions as negating the not significant criminal history factor. He says, nevertheless, that since then this court has changed its mind and it is no longer proper to consider contemporaneous convictions, <u>Scull v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1988), the prosecutor's argument, quite proper at the time, is no longer proper and reversal is required.

Unfortunately, appellant did not object below. (R-744). In order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception or motion in the court below. Steinhorst v. State, 412

- b -

So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). It has been a rule of long standing that an appellate court should confine itself to those questions, and only those questions that were before the trial court. <u>Silver v.</u> <u>State</u>, 188 So.2d 300 (Fla. 1966), <u>Haverty v. State</u>, 258 So.2d 18 (Fla. 2 DCA 1972). The reason for the rule is well established: "The judge must be allowed to make his error.'' <u>Mancini v. State</u>, 273 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1973). This applies to arguments of the prosecutor. In the absence of a timely objection interposed at trial a defendant may not raise objections to the remarks of a prosecutor for the first time on appeal. <u>Kruglak v. State</u>, 300 So.2d 315 (Fla. 3 DCA 1974), <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1976), <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976).

The defense had called a psychiatrist, a Dr. Sprehe, to testify in mitigation. During arguments to the jury the assistant state attorney first pointed out that Dr. Sprehe's opinion was rendered after speaking to appellant one hour, ten and one half years after the crime, (R-745), on the basis of one sided information. (R-751). Then he argued:

> It is interesting to note, though, that Dr. Sprehe did say even when this crime was occurring, Gene Lucas still knew the difference between right and wrong. Do you remember hearing that? Even when he was murdering Jill Piper.

> > (R-752)

This was proper comment because when Dr. Sprehe was testifying on direct for the defense he stated that appellant ". . . probably knew the difference between right and wrong. . ." (R-620). Moreover, on cross examination Dr. Sprehe admitted that appellant

- 7 -

was not suffering from any serious mental illness, that he had an antisocial personality, (R-631), and again reiterated that appellant knew right from wrong on the night of the murder in spite of all the drugs and alcohol appellant claims he was using. Significantly appellant never objected to these (R-632). sought to strike any of questions the answers. or Α prosecutorial comment cannot be considered improper if predicated on the evidence at trial. Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961), Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987). Even though remarks are actually inaccurate or overreaching, statements as to the testimony and meaning of the testimony, where there is nothing in the record to indicate that the statements complained of were willfully inaccurate, do not require a reversal. Myers v. State, 256 So.2d 400 (Fla. 3 DCA 1972).

When appellant objected to the prosecutor's comments, the prosecutor correctly explained to the court that one of the statutory mitigating circumstances which appellant was relying on was that appellant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was impaired. See Fla. Stat. 921.141(6)(f). If a criminal defendant knows that society frowns on murder, then that fact places into question any allegation that he could not appreciate the criminality of his conduct. It is true that subsection (6)(f) disjunctively also provides for the defendant's impaired inability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law as a mitigating factor. While the prosecutor's argument may not have addressed that particular clause he was entitled to

- 8 -

make what ever argument the record supported as to the first part of subsection (6)(f).

ISSUE II

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN TAKING JUDICIAL NOTICE OF THE FACT THAT APPELLANT WAS FOUND GUILTY ON JANUARY 14, 1977 OF THE ATTEMPTED MURDERS OF TERRI L. RICE AND RICHARD BYRD, JR., AND IN SO INFORMING THE JURY.

On March 25, 1987 the state filed a request to take judicial notice of the fact that appellant had, on January 14, 1977 been found guilty of attempted first degree murder of Terri L. Rice and of Richard Byrd, Jr. (R-847). On March 26, 1987 appellant filed a motion to strike the request predicated on the ground that attempted first degree murder is a nonstatutory aggravating factor. (R-848). He did not complain about inadequate notice in his motion to strike. At the trial, which began on March 20, 1987, appellant did, orally, add the argument that the request was not timely filed. (R-13). He now argues, in this appeal, that the court erred in taking judicial notice because (1) the request was not timely filed, (2) it relieved the state of proving, beyond a reasonable doubt, the aggravating circumstance which the two convictions supported, and (3) because it provided the prosecutor with a "sword and a shield" in that it not only allowed him to argue that the state had proven the aggravating circumstances of previous conviction of a crime of violence, but that these two convictions negated any contention that appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity.

- 9 -

(1) That the request was not timely filed.

The Florida Evidence Code 90.202(6) provides that a court may take judicial notice of the records of any court of this Section 90.203 provides that a court shall take judicial state. notice of any matter covered in 90.202 when one of the parties files a request that the court do so in a timely manner. The amount of time is not specified in the code. All that is required is that the requesting party make his written request in sufficient time to enable the adverse party to meet the request. Appellant claims a five day notice was not sufficient. He fails to explain why. The request involved the court records of the same case which was before the court. It was not a situation where the records pertained to another case or from another county or state. Appellant he has failed to explain exactly what he could not meet within the five days notice. Certainly it was not the fact of the judgments because they were right there in Certainly it was not the fact that he was not the court file. the Lucas that had been convicted in 1987 because he could have easily taken the stand and testified that he was not the same Lucas referred to in the judgments.

The contention that the notice was not timely is simply without merit.

<u>Milton v. State</u> 429 So.2d 804 (Fla. 4 DCA 1983), cited by appellant does not aid him because in <u>Milton</u> the Court was asked to take judicial notice of facts contained in another file and the request was made in the midst of the trial, without sufficient timely notice to allow the defendant to meet the request. What is sufficient time depends on the facts of any given case. Under the circumstances of this case five days notice was more than adequate.

(2) <u>That it relieved the state of having to prove</u> the aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt.

As already indicated above, once the state filed a timely request with respect to it own records and provided the court with sufficient information to enable it to take judicial notice the court was <u>required</u> by the code to take judicial notice. See **90.203.** Once the court is requested to take judicial notice of its own records there are only two grounds upon which the request may be denied absent failure to meet the request; viz: that the request was not timely or that the court was not provided with sufficient notice. The fact that the requesting party is relieved from proving a matter is not a ground which justifies denying the request.

Nevertheless, appellant confuses his concepts. The purpose of judicial notice is to relieve a party from proving a fact which is not subject to reasonable dispute and about which an argument about their existence would be moot and a sham. <u>Ehrhardt</u>, <u>Florida Evidence</u>, Second Edition Section 201.1. That appellant was adjudicated guilty of the attempted murders of Byrd and Rice is not subject to any dispute. This very court recognized those two convictions in appellant's first of many appeals to this court. <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla.

- 11 -

1979) at 1152. The fact that the convictions were judicially noticed, however, did not relieve the state of proving the two aggravating circumstances which they supported beyond a reasonable doubt. It only relieved the state of establishing an extensive and unnecessary predicate for a fact that was moot. While it eased the proof required, it did not relieve the jury of finding the existence of this aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury was so instructed. (R-797).

(3) That it allowed the prosecutor to argue that the two convictions negated the "no significant previous criminal history."

This argument does not even deserve an answer because it goes to what may be considered instead of how it may be considered. Whether the two previous convictions could be considered in determining whether appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity is an issue of itself which appellant has raised in issue I of his brief. Once it is determined that they can be considered, the question as to how evidence of that fact is admitted is another matter -- one already covered above.

ISSUE III

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE AT APPELLANT'S PENALTY TRIAL EVIDENCE OF THE MENTAL ANGUISH AND PHYSICAL PAIN ENDURED BY TERRI RICE AND RICHARD BYRD, JR.

- 12 -

Appellant complains that the state should not have been <u>allowed</u> to introduce evidence of the anguish and physical pain endured by the two victims of the attempted murders which occurred during the same transaction or episode as the murder which is the subject of this appeal.

In some eight pages of his brief, (appellant'sbr. p 40-47) appellant summarizes the testimony wherein such evidence was introduced and supports this through a plethora of record cites. Significantly, however, with but one exception, when one examines these record cites, one fails to find any objection predicated on the contention that the testimony was inadmissible on the grounds he now raises on this appeal. (R-271, 274, 275, 294, 296, 297, 298, 300, 301, 322, 323, 324, 415, 419, 420, 423, 424, 425, 426). It was only at this point, R-426, that appellant made any objection on the grounds that he now raises. At this time Terri Rice had already testified to the details of the assault, the fear and the anguish and Deputy Humble had already testified with respect to what he found when he arrived at the scene. In fact Byrd had already testified to much of the (R-294-324). details before any objection was interposed on the grounds that it was improper to introduce evidence of the anguish and pain suffered by the other two victims of this criminal episode.

We do not feel it necessary to reassert the need for an objection to preserve an issue on appeal. The cases have already been cited under issue I above. Consequently, appellant cannot be seen to complain about any of the details furnished prior to

his objection. When he did object the assistant state attorney informed the court that he recognized that in Lucas I, Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979), this Court had held that in determining whether the capital felony was committed in a heinous or atrocious manner, the heinousness or atrociousness of the collateral crimes could not be considered. (The logic of that ruling escapes the undersigned, but, nevertheless, it is the ruling of this Court.) He informed the court that this testimony was admissible because the two collateral offenses were prior violent felonies and the details of those crimes were admissible as per prior decisions of this court. The lower court overruled the objection. (R-428). Nevertheless, the testimony thereafter did not focus on ". . Mr. Byrd and what happened to him," (R-426), but on what he observed between Rice and appellant, that is, that they were fighting. (R-428). Concededly, further on in the testimony Byrd proceeded to testify concerning the fear, anguish and pain to him and to Terri Rice, but no further objections were interposed. (R-431-436).

We recognize, of course, that appellant will take the position that his one objection was sufficient and he should not have been required to object further. But the contention that he should not be required to make further objections does not remedy the fact that prior to this he had allowed this type of testimony without objection. Consequently, to the extent that it was error to have overruled the objection, it was harmless error considering what appellant had already allowed.

- 14 -

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